

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny

6.1. Overview and Scrutiny

6.1.1. As outlined in the Summary and Explanation at Part 1 of this Constitution, the Council has established arrangements for the Overview and Scrutiny function in line with six principles, those being that the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees shall:

- a) contribute to sound decision making in a timely way by holding decision makers to account as a ‘critical friend’;
- b) be a Councillor led and owned function that seeks to continuously improve through self-reflection and development;
- c) enable the voice and concerns of the public to be heard and reflected in the Council’s decision-making process;
- d) engages in decision making and policy development at an appropriate time to be able to have influence;
- e) contribute to and reflect the vision and priorities of the Council; and
- f) be agile and be able to respond to changing and emerging priorities at the right time with flexible working methods.

6.2. Responsibilities of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees have the functions set out at Part 3 of this Constitution.

6.3. Current Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committees~~Bodies

6.3.1. There shall be four Overview and Scrutiny bodies:

- a) ~~Corporate and Community Overview and Scrutiny Board Committee~~ which shall comprise of 13 Councillors meeting ~~five~~ twelve times each year. Meetings shall take account of the calendar of meetings for the Cabinet, to enable the Board to make recommendations to the Cabinet;
- b) **Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee** which shall comprise of 11 Councillors meeting five times each year;
- c) **Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee** which shall comprise of 11 Councillors meeting five times each year; and
- d) Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee which shall comprise of 11 Councillors meeting five times each year.

6.4. Membership

6.4.1. No member of the Cabinet may be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or Committees or any group established by the Board or Committees.

6.4.2. Lead Members of the Cabinet may not be a member of Overview and Scrutiny Board or Committees.

6.4.3. The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee may not be a member of any Overview and Scrutiny Board or Committee. This will maintain independence between the two functions of audit and scrutiny, in line with good practice.

6.4.3.6.4.4. Where the Chairs of the other Overview and Scrutiny Committees are not members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board they will be invited to attend meetings of the Board in order to report on activity within their Committees.

6.5. Substitutes

If a member is unable to attend a meeting their Group may arrange for a substitute to attend in their place in accordance with Part 4 of this Constitution.

6.6. Members of the Public

6.6.1. Members of the public can be invited to attend and contribute to meetings as required to provide insight to a matter under discussion. This may include but is not limited to subject experts with relevant specialist knowledge or expertise, representatives of stakeholder groups or service users. Members of the public will not have voting rights.

6.7. Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

6.7.1. As the functions and duties of the Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee include making decisions in relation to the Council's education responsibilities, the Committee must include two church and two parent governor representatives as voting members in addition to the Councillors. Parent governor membership shall extend to a maximum period of four years and no less than two years. These co-opted education representatives are entitled to vote on any item relating to education.

6.7.2. The Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also co-opt one representative from the Academy Trusts within the local authority area, to attend meetings and vote on matters relating to education.

6.7.3. The Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also co-opt on to the Committee two representatives of The Youth Parliament and, although they will not be entitled to vote, will ensure that their significant contribution to the work of the Committee is recognised and valued.

6.8. Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee

6.8.1. The Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee may co-opt on to the Committee two independent non-voting members. The selection and recruitment process shall be determined by the Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

6.8.6.9. Conduct of Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committee meetings

Conduct of the proceedings at Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committee meetings shall be in accordance with the Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4C of this Constitution.

6.9.6.10. Commissioned Work

~~6.9.1.6.10.1.~~ In addition to committee meetings, the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees may commission work to be undertaken in the following ways as it considers necessary after taking into account the availability of resources, the work programme and the matter under review. The Board and ~~Each~~ Committee is limited to ~~two~~one commissions at a time to ensure availability of resources.

- a) **Working Groups** – a small group of Councillors and Officers gathered to consider a specific issue and report back to a full meeting of the Board or ~~e~~Committee, or make recommendations to Cabinet or Council within a limited timescale. Working Groups usually meet once or twice, and are often non-public;
- b) **Sub-Committees** – a group of Councillors delegated a specific aspect of the main Board or Committee's work for ongoing, in-depth monitoring. May be time limited or be required as a long-standing sub-committee. Sub-Committees are often well suited to considering performance based matters that require scrutiny oversight. Sub-Committees usually meet in public;
- c) **Task and finish groups** – a small group of Councillors tasked with investigating a particular issue and making recommendations on this issue, with the aim of influencing wider Council policy. The area of investigation will be carefully scoped and will culminate in a final report, usually with recommendations to Cabinet or Council. Task and finish groups may work over the course of a number of months and take account of a wide variety of evidence, which can be resource intensive. For this reason, the number of these groups must be carefully prioritised by scrutiny members to ensure the work can progress at an appropriate pace for the final outcome to have influence;
- d) **Inquiry Days** – with a similar purpose to task and finish groups, inquiry days seek to understand and make recommendations on an issue by talking to a wide range of stakeholders and considering evidence relating to that issue, within one or two days. Inquiry days have similarities to the work of Government Select Committees. Inquiry days are highly resource intensive but can lead to swift, meaningful outcomes and recommendations that can make a difference to Council policy; and
- e) **Rapporteurs or scrutiny member champions** - individual Councillors or pairs of Councillors tasked with investigating or maintaining oversight of a particular issue and reporting back to the

main Bboard or committee on its findings. A main bBoard or committee can use these reports to facilitate its work prioritisation. Rapporteurs will undertake informal work to understand an issue – such as discussions with Officers and Portfolio Holders, research and data analysis. Rapporteur work enables scrutiny members to collectively stay informed of a wide range of Council activity. In this way the workload is spread between Councillors. This approach to the provision of information to scrutiny members also avoids valuable committee time being taken up with briefings in favour of more outcome-based scrutiny taking place at committee.

- n) making decisions on all applications relating to premises or land operated by the Council where relevant representations are received;
- o) making decisions on applications to review Premises Licences made under the Gambling Act 2005;
- p) making decisions on applications relating to Street Trading which fall outside of existing policies;
- q) making decisions on Public Carriage disciplinary matters that may result in the revocation or suspension of a Taxi Operators Licence;
- r) making decisions on applications for new Sex Establishment and Sexual Entertainment Licences;
- s) making decisions on applications for renewals of Sex Establishment and Sexual Entertainment Licences where representations have been received and not withdrawn;
- t) making any decisions required to be made within the following legislative frameworks which have not been delegated by the Committee to Officers:
 - i. Caravan Site Act 1968 and Mobile Home Act 2013 and related legislation;
 - ii. Charities Act 1992 and related legislation;
 - iii. Street Trading Permits and Table and Chair permissions and related permissions; and
 - iv. Animal Welfare Licensing – where there are objections to licences;
- u) approving the level of fees charged by the Council; and
- v) making decisions on the tariffs charged by the Public Carriage Trade.

- 3.2.5. determining any matter arising in relation to any Licensing Function where that matter has been expressly referred to the Licensing Committee by an Officer for such a purpose as an alternative to that Officer exercising a power delegated to them pursuant to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers.

4. Overview and Scrutiny Function

Interpretation

- 4.1. In this section (4) any references to 'committees' includes 'committees and boards' unless otherwise stated.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees

4.2. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees share the following responsibilities where the subject matter falls within their remit as defined in paragraphs 4.3 to 4.10:

- 4.2.1. scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet, offering advice or making recommendations on the matter;
- 4.2.2. considering decisions that have been called-in pursuant to the Procedures set out in this Constitution for further scrutiny;
- 4.2.3. offering any views or advice to the Cabinet or Council in relation to any matter referred for consideration by the Cabinet or Council;
- 4.2.4. monitoring the implementation of decisions to examine their effect and outcomes;
- 4.2.5. referring to full Council, the Cabinet or appropriate Committee/Sub-Committee any matter which, following scrutiny, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee determines should be brought to the attention of the Council, Cabinet or the Committee or Sub-Committee;
- 4.2.6. undertaking general policy reviews with a cross-service and multi-organisational approach wherever possible, and making recommendations to the Council or the Cabinet to assist in the development of future policies and strategies;
- 4.2.7. preparation, implementation, monitoring and review of a work programme;
- 4.2.8. establishing such commissioned work as appropriate after taking into account the availability of resources, the work programme and the matter under review.

Overview and Scrutiny CommitteesBoard

4.3. The Overview and Scrutiny Board has responsibility for:

- 4.3.1. carrying out those duties as outlined in 4.2.1 to 4.2.8 above, in relation to matters such as finance and transformation, economic development, regeneration and infrastructure, communication, culture, events, libraries, museums, community safety, regulatory services, licensing, leisure, sport and tourism;
- 4.3.2. undertaking scrutiny of the Council's budget processes, and may be assisted by representation from the other Committees in this task;
- 4.3.3. assisting the Council in the development of the Budget and Policy Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;
- 4.3.4. carrying out the Council's overview and scrutiny functions relating to crime and disorder as required by legislation. Crime and disorder overview and scrutiny will take place at least once a year.

~~Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of equal status and has responsibility for:~~

- 4.3.5. discharging any other statutory duties for which the Overview and Scrutiny function is responsible, other than those that relate to Flood Risk Management, Health, Adult Social Care, Children's Services and Education;
- 4.3.6. the preparation, implementation, monitoring and review of a work programme for the Overview and Scrutiny Board;
- 4.3.7. overseeing the Council's overall Overview and Scrutiny function including oversight of the work plans and use of resource across all O&S bodies;
- 4.3.8. keeping the Overview and Scrutiny function under review, suggesting changes as appropriate to ensure that it remains fit for purpose;
- 4.3.9. reporting annually to Full Council on the output of the Overview and Scrutiny function providing an assessment of the value added by the work undertaken, taking into account the agreed principles on which the function is based;
- 4.3.10. maintaining oversight and establishing priorities for the training needs of the whole of the Overview and Scrutiny function;
- ~~4.1.1. scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet, offering advice or making recommendations on the matter;~~
- ~~4.1.2. considering decisions within the remit of that Committee that have been called in pursuant to the Procedures set out in this Constitution for further scrutiny;~~
- ~~4.1.3. offering any views or advice to the Cabinet or Council in relation to any matter referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration by the Cabinet or Council;~~
- ~~4.1.4. undertaking general policy reviews with a cross-service and multi-organisational approach wherever possible, and making recommendations to the Council or the Cabinet to assist in the development of future policies and strategies;~~
- ~~4.1.5. assisting the Council in the development of the Budget and Policy Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;~~
- ~~4.1.6. monitoring the implementation of decisions to examine their effect and outcomes;~~
- ~~4.1.7. referring to full Council, the Cabinet or appropriate Committee/Sub-Committee any matter which, following scrutiny, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee determines should be brought to the attention of the Council, Cabinet or the Committee or Sub-Committee;~~
- ~~4.1.8. preparation, implementation, monitoring and review of a work programme;~~
- ~~4.1.9. establishing such commissioned work as appropriate after taking into account the availability of resources, the work programme and the matter under review;~~

~~4.1.10.4.3.11. maintaining oversight and establishing priorities for the training needs of the Committee.~~

Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

~~4.2.4.4.~~ The Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee will carry out those duties as outlined in ~~4.2.14.1.1~~ to ~~4.2.84.1.10~~ above, in relation to matters regarding health, adult social care, public health, community care and any other issues relating to the delivery of health services by health service providers and NHS bodies affecting the residents of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.

~~4.3.4.5.~~ This Committee carries out all the Council's overview and scrutiny functions relating to health as required by legislation.

Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

~~4.6.~~ The Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for carrying out those duties as outlined in ~~4.2.14.1.1~~ to ~~4.2.84.1.10~~ above, in relation to matters which relate to the delivery of services for children in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.

~~4.4.~~ This Committee acts as the Council's Statutory Education Committee as required by legislation.

~~4.5.4.7.~~ Education co-optees will be appointed to this Committee in line with legislation, and as set out within Article 6 of this Constitution.

Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee

~~4.6.4.8.~~ The Environment and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for carrying out those duties as outlined in ~~4.2.14.1.1~~ to ~~4.2.84.1.10~~ above, in relation to matters such as ~~regeneration, strategic planning~~ development management, house building, homes, environment, cleansing, waste, ~~transport~~ and sustainability.

~~4.7.4.9.~~ This Committee carries out all the Council's overview and scrutiny functions relating to flood risk management as required by legislation.

~~Corporate and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee~~

~~4.8.~~ ~~The Corporate and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for carrying out those duties as outlined in 4.1.1 to 4.1.10 above, in relation to matters such as finance and transformation, economic development, communication, culture, events, libraries, museums, community safety, regulatory services, licensing, leisure, sport and tourism.~~

~~4.9.~~ ~~This Committee will be the lead Overview and Scrutiny Committee for undertaking scrutiny of the Council's budget processes, and may be assisted by representation from the other Committees in this task.~~

~~4.10. This Committee carries out the Council's overview and scrutiny functions relating to crime and disorder as required by legislation. Crime and disorder overview and scrutiny will take place at least once a year.~~

Changes to functions of Overview and Scrutiny Committees

~~4.11.4.10.~~ The remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees is based on the division of Portfolio Holder responsibilities. Portfolio Holders may report to more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

~~4.12.4.11.~~ Portfolio Holder responsibilities are changeable and from time to time it may be necessary to modify the designation of functions across the ~~four~~ Overview and Scrutiny Committees to maintain an efficient fit and clear lines of accountability. Changes will be included as required within the annual report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer to Council.

5. Audit and Governance Committee

5.1. Functions of the Audit & Governance Committee are set out below. The Audit & Governance Committee cannot delegate for a decision any issues referred to it apart from any matter that is reserved to Council.

Statement of Purpose

5.2. The Audit & Governance Committee is a key component of the Council's corporate governance. It provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and financial standards.

5.3. The purpose of our Audit & Governance Committee is to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal control environment. It provides independent review of the Council's governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place.

Governance, Risk & Control

5.4. To consider the arrangements for corporate governance including reviews of the Local Code of Corporate Governance and review and approval of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS).

5.5. To consider the Council's arrangements to secure value for money and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

5.6. To consider the Council's framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Council.

5.7. To consider arrangements for risk management including the approval of the Risk Management Strategy and review of the Council's corporate risk register.

14.	The making of agreements for the execution of highways works	Non-executive
15.	The appointment of any individual— (a) to any office other than an office in which he is employed by the authority; (b) to any body other than— (i) the authority; (ii) a joint committee of two or more authorities; or (c) to any committee or sub-committee of such a body, and the revocation of any such appointment	Non- executive
16.	The making of agreements with other local authorities for the placing of staff at the disposal of those other authorities	Non-executive
17.	Any function of a local authority in their capacity as a harbour authority (to the extent that the function does not fall within paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000	Non-executive Not applicable

Functions of the Cabinet

9.3. The Leader will prepare a Scheme of Delegation in which the Leader will confirm which of the following functions will be delegated to the Cabinet:

- 9.3.1. responsibility for strategic and policy co-ordination;
- 9.3.2. making recommendations to Full Council for approval as part of the Budget and Key Policy Framework, major new policies, changes to or revisions of existing policies or any other plan or strategy which Full Council decides it shall adopt or approve;
- 9.3.3. carrying out the Council's responsibilities for improving the economic social and environmental well-being of the area;
- 9.3.4. ensuring that the Annual Budget is set and the underlying principles set out in the Financial Regulations adhered to in any changes required from time to time including recommending to Full Council any changes to policy that will materially reduce or increase the services of the Council or create significant financial commitments in future years in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Regulations;
- 9.3.5. recommending to Full Council the overall financial strategy, including the Capital and Revenue Budgets and the level of Council Tax and the Council Tax Base;

- 9.3.6. monitoring spending on the Capital Programme;
- 9.3.7. taking in year decisions on resources and priorities, together with other stakeholders and partners in the local community, to deliver the Key Policy Framework, Corporate Plan and Budget;
- 9.3.8. considering and responding to recommendations and reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees;
- 9.3.9. considering the reports of external review bodies on key aspects of overall service delivery;
- 9.3.10. deciding all Local Choice Functions which Full Council has decided should be undertaken by the Cabinet;
- 9.3.11. carrying out those Executive Functions of the Council not delegated to other bodies, individual Cabinet Members or Officers pursuant to one of the schemes of delegation;
- 9.3.12. resolving disputes between Cabinet Members including those where there is no agreement between Portfolio Holders relating to cross-portfolio issues;
- 9.3.13. being involved in the process for appointment of the Council's Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service and other Officers as set out in the Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4;
- 9.3.14. making the final decision on joint arrangements and delegations to other councils which relate to Executive Functions; and
- 9.3.15. conferring with other councils, government departments, statutory bodies, voluntary bodies, and other external agencies.

10. Functions of Individual Members of the Cabinet

The Leader

- 10.1. The Leader will perform the following functions:
 - 10.1.1. leading on implementing the Council's policy and budget decisions;
 - 10.1.2. providing leadership of the Council by setting the strategic direction and key priorities, overseeing the development of the financial strategies;
 - 10.1.3. representing the Council in the community and in negotiations with regional and national organisations;
 - 10.1.4. in the absence of a Portfolio Holder taking responsibility for all relevant matters within the remit of the Cabinet;
 - 10.1.5. appointment of a Deputy Leader;
 - 10.1.6. appointment of up to 9 Councillors to be Members of the Cabinet;
 - 10.1.7. allocating to each Member of the Cabinet areas of responsibility to be known as Portfolios;

- 10.1.8. notifying the Monitoring Officer of the allocation of responsibility so that the information can be compiled in the Cabinet Members' Portfolio Scheme;
- 10.1.9. providing leadership to the Cabinet and chair Cabinet meetings;
- 10.1.10. where the Leader judges it to be the most suitable course of action, the Leader may require any decision proposed by one or more Portfolio Holders to be taken by the full Cabinet;
- 10.1.11. exercising discretion to personally discharge any Executive Functions or make arrangements for their discharge by the Cabinet, another Member of the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet or an Officer (without prejudice to their continued power to discharge that function); and
- 10.1.12. responsibility for all Executive Functions not expressed to be within the remit of the Leader or otherwise delegated by the Leader to the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member, Committee of the Cabinet or to Officers.

The Deputy Leader

- 10.2. In addition to their Portfolio responsibilities, the Deputy Leader will Deputise in the Leader's absence or inability to act due to a conflict of interest.

Delegation to Cabinet Members

- 10.3. All Cabinet Members will be publicly accountable for the Executive Functions of the Council. This will include specific responsibility for matters within the scope of their Portfolio as follows:
 - 10.3.1. to make decisions consistent with the Council's Key Policy Framework;
 - 10.3.2. to make decisions within approved budgets or within virement discretion in accordance with the Financial Regulations;
 - 10.3.3. to make decisions which do not compromise any existing or proposed policy;
 - 10.3.4. to refer to the Leader any matter considered by the Portfolio Holder or the Leader to be too sensitive or controversial to be decided 'within Portfolio';
 - 10.3.5. to agree decisions with other Portfolio Holders where the matter is a cross-portfolio matter. To refer to the Leader any such matter which cannot be agreed;
 - 10.3.6. to give public account of the functions and decisions made within the Portfolio areas of responsibility;
 - 10.3.7. to maintain clear communication with the Chairs of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Board and Committees;
 - 10.3.8. to represent the Council with external bodies and agencies in order to promote the work of the Council and the Council's interests and improve Council influence with external bodies;

- 10.3.9. to develop clear, affordable policies and strategies for services which are consistent with the Council's wider objectives and consistent with the Council's cross cutting objectives;
 - 10.3.10. to set clear priorities which are consistent with the Council's policies and strategic objectives;
 - 10.3.11. to ensure that resources are efficiently managed within allocations set by Council and that risk is well managed; and
 - 10.3.12. specific projects as agreed with the Leader of the Council.
- 10.4. Where matters are to be discharged by the Cabinet then (unless the Leader directs otherwise) the Cabinet may exercise its discretion to delegate those matters to a Committee of the Cabinet or to an Officer.
 - 10.5. Where matters are to be discharged by a single Cabinet Member then unless the Leader directs otherwise that Cabinet Member may exercise their discretion to delegate those matters to an Officer.
 - 10.6. Where Executive Functions have been delegated that does not prevent the discharge of the delegated functions by the person or body who delegated them or by the Leader who retains the authority to make any executive decision.

Cabinet Portfolio Scheme

- 10.7. The Portfolios must be contained within a Schedule which will be published on the Council's website, part of this Constitution and subject to review and updating by the Leader of the Council at their discretion.

Leader Delegation to Chief Executive

- 10.8. The Leader will set out specific additional delegations within a Schedule to the Chief Executive over and above those set out below in the Scheme of Delegation to Officers which will be published, part of the Constitution and subject to review and updating by the Leader of the Council at their discretion.

A. Access to Information Procedure Rules

1. Interpretation

- 1.1. In these and subsequent Procedure Rules in this Part 4:
- 1.1.1. references to 'the Council' means 'Full Council', unless otherwise stated;
 - 1.1.2. references to 'committees' includes 'committees and boards' unless otherwise stated;
 - 1.1.3. references to 'sub-committees' includes 'sub-committees, working groups, panels and forums' unless otherwise stated;
 - 1.1.4. references to the serving of notice to 'Monitoring Officer' shall, unless otherwise stated, include notice to 'Democratic Services'; and
 - 1.1.5. references to 'Rules' means these Procedure Rules, unless otherwise stated.
 - 1.1.6. unless otherwise required by law, references to 'copies of documents being made available for public inspection' means the publication online or sent electronically upon request.

2. Scope

These Rules apply to all meetings of the Council, its Committees and Sub-Committees and to public meetings of the Cabinet (together referred to as "meetings").

3. Additional Rights to Information

These Rules do not affect any other specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this Constitution or otherwise provided by law.

4. Rights to Attend and Report upon Meetings

- 4.1. Members of the public may attend all public meetings subject to the exceptions contained in these Rules.
- 4.2. Members of the press and public are also entitled to film, audio record and report on meetings of the Council, Committees, Sub-Committees and Cabinet, except in circumstances where the public have been excluded in accordance with this Constitution or as permitted by law. Any such filming, audio recording or reporting shall be in accordance with any guidelines published by the Council on its website or made available at the meeting.

5. Notice of Meetings

The Council shall ordinarily give at least five clear working days' notice of any meeting by publicising a copy of the official notice on the Council's website and at the Council's main office.

C. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

1. How Overview and Scrutiny operates

1.1. Any Procedure Rule applying to a Committee shall also apply to the Overview and Scrutiny Board unless otherwise stated.

~~4.4.1.2.~~ The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will perform the functions as set out in Article 6 at Part 2 of this Constitution.

~~4.2.1.3.~~ No Councillor may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved.

2. Overview & Scrutiny Work Plan/s

2.1. The proposed work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be set out in a Work Plan which shall consist of work aligned to the principles for the function, as set out in this Constitution. Each Committee will be responsible for its own Work Plan.

2.2. Once any Work Plan has been approved, a copy will be published with the agenda for each meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and available to any Councillor on request.

2.3. The Overview and Scrutiny Board will maintain oversight of all Work Plans relating to the Overview and Scrutiny function. The purpose of this oversight is to ensure a balance of resource is available across the function and all overview and scrutiny work is adding value to the Council as a whole. The Overview and Scrutiny Board may comment on or make recommendations in relation to the Work Plans of other Overview and Scrutiny Committees as it sees appropriate to ensure overview and scrutiny work is adding value to the Council as a whole.

3. Responsibilities of Overview and Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs

3.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairs and Vice-Chairs will meet on a regular basis to assist the Board in maintaining oversight of the Overview and Scrutiny function, for example monitoring actions for improvement for Overview and Scrutiny, training and development needs, resource availability and cross-cutting scrutiny issues. Meetings will be informal and may be virtual.

~~3.2. Oversight of the Overview and Scrutiny function referred to at 3.1 will include collective monitoring of all Work Plans relating to the Overview and Scrutiny function to ensure a balance of resource is available across the function and all overview and scrutiny work is adding value to the Council as a whole.~~

~~3.3. As outlined at procedure rules 13.3 and 14.1 the Overview and Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs will provide views to the Monitoring Officer on the designation of cross-cutting matters, including those that are the subject of a call-in.~~

~~3.4.3.2.~~ The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee will be invited to attend informal meetings of the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny as appropriate to discuss matters of mutual interest.

~~3.5.3.3.~~ The Statutory Scrutiny Officer will report to Council on an annual basis on the work of Overview and Scrutiny, including recommendations for any changes that may be required to ensure the function remains fit for purpose. This report will be informed by consultation with the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and referred to the four Overview and Scrutiny Committees for comment.

4. Consultation and Suggestions

- 4.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will consult with other parts of the Council as appropriate, including the Cabinet, on the preparation of any Work Plan. They should also take into account the resources, including Councillor availability, Officer and financial resources, available to support their proposals.
- 4.2. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may take suggestions from a variety of sources to form their Work Plans. This may include suggestions from members of the public, Officers of the Council, Portfolio Holders, the Cabinet and Council, members of the Committee, and other Councillors who are not on the Committee.
- 4.3. All suggestions for Overview and Scrutiny work will be accompanied by:
 - 4.3.1. detail outlining the background to the issue suggested;
 - 4.3.2. the proposed method of undertaking the work;
 - 4.3.3. likely timescale associated with undertaking the work; and
 - 4.3.4. the anticipated outcome and value to be added by the work proposed.
 - 4.3.5. No item of work shall join the work plan of any Overview and Scrutiny Committee without an assessment of this information.
- 4.4. Members of the public may make suggestions for Overview and Scrutiny work. Suggestions will be made in writing and accompanied by the detail outlined at Rule 4.3 of this Part 4C.
- 4.5. A facility will be made for members of the public to make suggestions for overview and scrutiny work on the Council's website. Suggestions will be considered by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will maintain oversight of suggestions made by the public and will assess the value to be added by the work suggested when determining whether to exercise their powers in this respect. Any member of the public raising an item under this Rule shall be precluded from raising the matter again for a period of 12 months from the date it is considered by the Committee.

5. Requests

- 5.1. Where Portfolio Holders, the Cabinet or Council request that Overview and Scrutiny Committees undertake a specified piece of work, the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond to the request as soon as it is possible to do so.
- 5.2. The Committee will assess the value to be added by the work suggested when determining whether to exercise its powers in this respect. Where it chooses to exercise its powers in relation to the request, it will report back its findings and any recommendations to Cabinet and/or Full Council in accordance with Rule 11 of this Part 4C.
- 5.3. Where the Committee chooses not to exercise its powers in relation to the request, it will provide reasons for this to the body that made the original request.
- 5.4. All Councillors have the right to suggest that an item be considered for Overview and Scrutiny provided that the item to which the suggestion is made must be relevant to the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Councillors must make this suggestion in writing to the Scrutiny Officer who will arrange for the publication of the request on the next available agenda of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda. The request will be accompanied by the information as set out at 4.3 above. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the request, assess the value to be added by the work proposed and determine whether the matter shall join the Work Plan. Where a decision is made by the Committee not to exercise its powers in relation to the matter the Committee must provide its decision to the Councillor making the request, giving reasons for this.
- 5.5. Any Councillor raising an item under Rule 5.4 of this Part 4C shall be precluded from raising the matter again for a period of 12 months from the date it is considered by the Committee.

6. Engagement with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

- 6.1. Consideration will be given at the scoping stage as to how others, in addition to Councillors and Officers of the Council, may be engaged in the work of Overview and Scrutiny and the benefit that this engagement will bring to the work. This may include, but is not limited to, contribution from subject experts with relevant specialist knowledge and/or expertise; representatives of stakeholder groups and service users.
- 6.2. Overview and Scrutiny has a key role in the development of the Budget and Policies of the Council. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may make proposals to the Cabinet or Full Council for development or review of key strategies, plans and policies to the extent that they relate to matters within the respective terms of reference for each Committee.

7. Commissioned Work

- 7.1. When considering additions to its Work Plan, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees may commission work to be undertaken outside of Committee meetings in accordance with Article 6 at Part 2 of this Constitution.
- 7.2. When commissioning work, the Committees will take into account the availability of resources as highlighted above. Committees may undertake ~~two~~one pieces of commissioned work at a time to ensure availability of resource across all Committees.
- 7.3. Bodies commissioned by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees may have conferred upon them the power to act on behalf of the parent Committee in considering issues within the remit of the parent Committee and making recommendations directly to Portfolio Holders, Cabinet, Council or other bodies or people within the Council or externally as appropriate.

8. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to information

- 8.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have access to the Cabinet's Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation.
- 8.2. In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have the additional right of access to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out at Part 4A of this Constitution.
- 8.3. Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees as appropriate. Regular, informal dialogue between the two is considered good practice to ensure that the Overview and Scrutiny function can understand developing Cabinet priorities, discuss and assess the value that Overview and Scrutiny can provide and contribute in a timely way to policy development.

9. Councillors and Officers giving account

- 9.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council function or matters which affect the Council's area or the inhabitants of that area. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling its scrutiny role, it may require the Leader, any Portfolio Holder or Officer to attend before it to provide information in relation to matters within their remit. It is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall have sole discretion to determine which Councillors and Officers will be requested to attend and the format that discussions with invitees will take. All discussions will be based on respect and courtesy - consistent with the Code of Conduct - and will be undertaken with the aim of maximising the effectiveness of the scrutiny being conducted.

- 9.2. Where any Councillor or Officer is required to attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the Chair of that Committee will inform the Scrutiny Officer, who will inform the Councillor or Officer in writing giving at least seven clear working days' notice of the meeting. The notice will state the nature of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will require the production of a report, then the Councillor or Officer concerned will be given reasonable notice to allow for its preparation.
- 9.3. Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Councillor or Officer is unable to attend on the required date, then the Committee shall consider, in consultation with the Councillor or Officer, an alternative date for attendance or whether another Councillor or officer should attend in their place.
- 9.4. Officers should not be expected to enter, and should avoid being drawn into, discussions of politically contentious matters and any Officer input should be consistent with the requirements for political impartiality.
- 9.5. The requirements of any protocols on Councillor/Officer relationships and the Code of Conduct must be adhered to where an Officer is attending an Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

10. Attendance by others

- 10.1. With reasonable notice, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees may invite individuals other than those referred to in Rule 9 of this Part 4C to address it, to discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions.
- 10.2. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committees conduct investigations (for example with a view to policy development), the Committee may ask individuals to attend to give evidence at its meetings, which are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles:
 - 10.2.1. the investigation is to be conducted fairly and all members of the Committee will be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak;
 - 10.2.2. those assisting the Committee by giving evidence will be treated with respect and courtesy; and
 - 10.2.3. the investigation will be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the investigation or analysis.

11. Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

- 11.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will report on findings of their work to Cabinet and Full Council, as appropriate according to the matter under review and recommendations being made.

- 11.2. Once recommendations have been formed, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will submit a formal report for consideration by the Cabinet, or where the Leader has delegated decision-making to a Portfolio Holder, the Portfolio Holder (if the proposals relate to an Executive Function and are consistent with the existing Budget and Policy Framework); or to Full Council as appropriate (if the recommendation would require a departure from or a change to the agreed Budget and Policy Framework).
- 11.3. Where recommendations have been submitted, Full Council or the Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months (or the next available meeting in the case of the Council). A response will be provided to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee indicating what action, if any, the Cabinet or Full Council proposes to take.
- 11.4. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee submits recommendations for consideration by a Portfolio Holder, the Portfolio Holder must consider the report and respond in writing to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months of receiving it indicating what action, if any, the Portfolio Holder proposes to take. The Portfolio Holder must also attend a future meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to present their response.

12. Where the Decision Maker is an External, non-Council Organisation

- 12.1. Where that organisation has a statutory duty to respond to the Committee, a written response shall be requested within the timescale required or, if mutually agreed, by another set deadline so the response can be placed on the agenda of the next scheduled meeting of the Committee, if appropriate.
- 12.2. Where that organisation does not have a statutory duty to respond to the Committee, a written response shall be invited within 2 months.
- 12.3. Where scrutiny is being undertaken in relation to the Council's statutory Health or Crime and Disorder Scrutiny functions this will be done in accordance with the relevant legislation and statutory guidance.

13. Joint Committees

- 13.1. Overview and Scrutiny Committees may jointly scrutinise a particular matter to provide for effective Overview and Scrutiny. To ensure agile scrutiny can take place, there will be a presumption that this will be undertaken by a lead Overview and Scrutiny Committee, with invitation extended to the Chairs of other relevant Committees to attend and contribute to discussions. The Monitoring Officer will determine the lead Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- 13.2. Where the Monitoring Officer determines that arrangements at 13.1 above will not lead to effective Overview and Scrutiny, a joint committee of more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be formed. This will include all members of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees. A Chair for the joint committee will be selected from between the Chairs of the relevant committees.

13.3. Determination of the matters at 13.1 and 13.2 above will be made by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Consultation will be informal and may take place virtually.

13.4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees may be established with other councils to provide for effective Overview and Scrutiny of a particular matter. This includes making provision for joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees relating to Health, and to Crime and Disorder, as permitted under legislation.

14. Call-In

14.1. All requests for Call-In shall be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Board.

14.2. Where the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee referred to at 14.1 above has been engaged as part of the decision-making process of a decision subject to Call-In the Monitoring Officer shall have discretion to refer the consideration of the Call-In to another Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

~~14.1. Requests for Call-In shall be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the remit most closely aligned to the matter that is the subject of the call-in. This will be determined by the Monitoring Officer on a case-by-case basis in consultation with the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Consultation will be informal and may take place virtually.~~

~~14.2.~~ 14.3. Call-In is the exercise of Overview and Scrutiny's statutory power to review an Executive Key Decision which has been made but not carried out. Call-In should only be used in exceptional circumstances. This Rule shall apply to a Key Decision of the Cabinet, the Leader, Portfolio Holder or a Key Decision made by an Officer and there are reasonable grounds that one of the following is applicable:

~~14.2.1.~~ 14.3.1. the decision was not made in accordance with the principles of decision-making set out in Article 12 of this Constitution;

~~14.2.2.~~ 14.3.2. the decision was neither published in accordance with the requirements for the Cabinet Forward Plan and not subject to the 'general exception' or 'special urgency' procedures set out in this Constitution; or

~~14.2.3.~~ 14.3.3. the decision is not in accordance with the Key Policy Framework or Budget.

~~14.3.~~ 14.4. When a Key Decision is made by the Cabinet, a member of the Cabinet, or a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Cabinet, or a Key Decision is made by an Officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet, the decision shall be published, by electronic means, and shall be made available for inspection normally within 2 clear working days of being made. All Councillors will be sent an electronic record of all such decisions within the same timescale.

~~14.4.~~14.5. Subject to any urgency provisions a decision taken and to which Rule ~~14.4~~14.3 of this Part 4C refers will not come into force, and may not be implemented, until the expiry of 5 clear working days after the decision was made, recorded and published in accordance with Rule ~~14.4~~14.3 of this Part 4C.

~~14.5.~~14.6. Where a decision referred to in Rule ~~14.4~~14.3 of this Part 4C has been made, any three or more members of the Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee Board~~with the remit most closely aligned to the matter of the decision, or alternatively 10 Councillors who are not members of the Cabinet, may submit a Call-In notice, in writing, within the period specified in Rule ~~14.5~~14.4 of this Part 4C, to the Monitoring Officer or their nominated representative. Voting education members of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee may only sign a Call-In request when the matter relates to an education function. Where the notice is valid, the decision cannot be implemented until the procedures in this section have been followed. The Monitoring Officer will consider the Call-In request and confirm its validity or otherwise.

~~14.6. Where the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee referred to at 14.5 above has been engaged as part of the decision-making process of a decision subject to Call-In the Monitoring Officer shall have discretion to refer the consideration of the Call-In to another Overview and Scrutiny Committee.~~

14.7. A valid Call-In request must comply with the following:

14.7.1. have the correct number of signatures; and

14.7.2. give reasons for the Call-In. The reasons must set out the grounds upon which the Call-In is based with reference to Rule 14.2 of this Part 4C and the evidence to support the grounds. Reasons must be legitimate and not designed to create an obstacle to or delay the proper transaction of business nor should they be vexatious, repetitive or improper in any other way.

14.8. Where, as a result of a corporate electronic system failure or planned shutdown, the issuing of or access to decisions is prevented; or the submission of a Call-In notice by electronic means in accordance with the Council's Call-In provisions is prevented, the periods for notification or submission shall be extended by the period of delay, provided that period is in excess of four hours. When, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, the period of delay is likely to extend beyond two clear working days, they shall agree with the Chair of the ~~relevant~~ Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee Board~~ – as outlined at 14.1 above - alternative arrangements to avoid any delay in implementing Cabinet decisions not subject to Call-In.

14.9. The decision subject to Call-In will be referred to the first available meeting of the ~~relevant~~ Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee Board~~, or to a specially convened meeting of the ~~Committee Board~~ should the Chair of the ~~Committee Board~~ consider this to be appropriate in the circumstances.

14.10. The Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee Board~~, having considered the matter, will decide whether to refer the decision to Cabinet for consideration. Where the

matter is referred for reconsideration, advice must be offered by the Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee~~Board. The ~~Committee~~Board may decide to offer no advice in which case the decision may be implemented immediately. Where advice is offered, the Cabinet will reconsider the decision in light of the advice provided.

14.11. Where a matter is considered and advice is offered by the Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee~~Board, its advice will be submitted to the Cabinet for a decision to be made on the matter. The Cabinet shall consider the advice, but shall not be bound to accept it in whole or in part. It shall have sole discretion to decide on any further action to be taken in relation to the decisions in question, including confirming, with or without amendment, the original decision or deferment pending further consideration, or making a different decision. There are no further rights to enable a Councillor to submit a Call-In notice. The decision may then be implemented.

14.12. Once the Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee~~Board has decided to offer advice or not to offer advice, no further Call-In notices may be served in respect of that matter subject to the decision in question. This does not prevent the matter being scrutinised further by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee after the decision has been implemented in accordance with these Rules.

14.13. A submitted Call-In notice can only be withdrawn with the written consent of sufficient of the signatories such as to reduce the number of signatories to below the relevant threshold set out in Rule 14.5 of this Part 4C.

14.14. The Call-In facility does not apply to the determination of a Motion under Procedure Rule 10 of Part 4D (Notices of Motion).

15. Call-In and Urgency

15.1. The Call-In procedure set out above shall not apply where the Key Decision being taken by the Cabinet, the Leader, Portfolio Holder or an Officer is urgent.

15.2. A decision will be urgent if any delay, caused by the Call-In process, would be likely to seriously prejudice the Council's or the public's interests.

15.3. The Chair of the ~~relevant~~ Overview and Scrutiny ~~Committee~~Board—~~as set out at 14.1 above~~—or, in their absence, the Vice-Chair or in their absence the Chair of the Council must agree that the decision should be treated as urgent, and that the Call-In procedure should not apply.

15.4. In the absence of the Chair of the Council, the Vice-Chair's consent shall be required. In the absence of all of the above Councillors, the Chief Executive's, or their nominee's, consent shall be required.

16. Councillor Call for Action

16.1. Any Councillor may submit a Councillor Call for Action.

- 16.2. The Councillor Call for Action is intended to be a process of last resort and therefore a Councillor must demonstrate that reasonable steps have been taken to resolve the matter including a response from the relevant Portfolio Holder and the Chief Executive.
- 16.3. The Councillor Call for Action will be placed on the next available agenda of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- 16.4. It is for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to determine how it wishes to respond to the Councillor Call for Action and, in the case of refusal to undertake a review, then reasons must be provided.

17. The Party Whip

The use of the Party Whip is incompatible with the role of Overview and Scrutiny and shall not be used.

18. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Meetings

- 18.1. Matters to be considered will be set out in an agenda, together with appropriate and relevant supporting papers.
- 18.2. The Overview and Scrutiny meeting shall consider the following business:
- 18.2.1. record of the last meeting;
 - 18.2.2. declarations of interest;
 - 18.2.3. public items;
 - 18.2.4. consideration of any matter referred to the Committee by Full Council or by the Cabinet;
 - 18.2.5. consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for advice in relation to Call-In of a decision;
 - 18.2.6. responses of the Cabinet on reports of the Overview and Scrutiny meeting;
 - 18.2.7. the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting; and
 - 18.2.8. the Overview and Scrutiny Committee's Work Plan, including requests for items of scrutiny from Councillors and members of the public in accordance with the procedure set out in this Constitution.

Scheme of Members' Allowances – 2023/2024

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local Authorities' (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, hereby makes the following scheme:

- a. This scheme may be cited as the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council Members' Allowances Scheme and shall have effect from 23 May 2023.
- b. In this scheme "Councillor" means a member of the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council who is a Councillor.

1. Basic Allowance

- 1.1. A Basic Allowance of £13,543 shall be paid to each Councillor.
- 1.2. The Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances shall be adjusted by an amount equivalent to any officers' pay award for 2023/24 in line with the Employees' National Salary Award and shall be applied retrospectively to 23 May 2023. Where the pay award is determined as a fixed amount the average pay award for BCP employees shall be applied for this purpose.
- 1.3. The Basic Allowance is intended to recognise the time devoted by Councillors to their work, including their community representative role, and to cover some incidental expenses incurred by them encompassing;
 - (a) the community representative role that all Members undertake that includes
 - representing constituents' views at meetings of the Council and, as appropriate, on other organisations;
 - ensuring that individual problems which have not been dealt with by the normal procedure are dealt with satisfactorily;
 - holding community meetings and consultations;
 - dealing with correspondence and obtaining information;
 - meeting with officers to make them aware of local concerns;
 - acting as the representative on another body, requiring briefing and reporting back to Council;
 - (b) attendance at and preparation for committee meetings;
 - (c) travel time and time spent representing the Council on outside bodies;
 - (d) the use of the home as an office including internet, telephone and postage costs and the purchase of stationery and related items; and
 - (e) some subsistence costs.

2. Special Responsibility

- 2.1. A Special Responsibility Allowance shall be paid to those Councillors (in addition to the Basic Allowance) who hold the special responsibilities; this is in recognition of

the additional workload and levels of responsibility and accountability placed upon members appointed to these roles:

Leader	£29,339
Cabinet Members (including Deputy Leader)	£19,559
Lead Members	£10,834
Chair of the Council	£10,834
Vice-Chair of the Council	£5,418
Chair of Audit & Governance Committee	£10,834
Chair of Planning Committee	£10,834
Chair of Corporate and Community Overview & Scrutiny <u>CommitteeBoard</u>	£8,125
Chair of <u>Environment and</u> Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee	£8,125
Chair of Children's Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee	£8,125
Chair of Health & Adult Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee	£8,125
Chair of Licensing Committee	£10,834
Vice-Chair of Licensing Committee	£2,709
Chair of Appeals Committee	£3,251
Chair of Standards Committee	£3,251
Group Leaders*	£3,251

(***NOTE:** minority parties must have a membership of no fewer than 5 for their Leader to receive an SRA)

- 2.2. Councillors shall be restricted to claiming only one Special Responsibility Allowance (and may elect which SRA to receive) with the exception that a Group Leader's SRA can be payable as a second SRA.
- 2.3. Subject to paragraph 2.4 below, no Special Responsibility Allowance shall be paid to vice-chair of committees (with the exception of the vice-chair of Council and the Licensing Committee).
- 2.4. Where the relevant chair is permanently unavailable to perform their duties, the entitlement to a special responsibility allowance shall transfer to the elected vice-chair.

3. Travel allowances

- 3.1. Councillors and appointed members are entitled to claim travel allowances in line with MAP (HMRC approved Mileage Allowance Payments) for undertaking official business and travelling to the BCP Council offices for meetings and official business.